THE ESSENTIAL THEATRE



OSCAR BROCKETT | ROBERT BALL | JOHN FLEMING | ANDREW CARLSON

5 REASONS to buy your textbooks and course materials at

CENGAGE brain

- SAVINGS:
 Prices up to 75% off, daily coupons, and free shipping on orders over \$25
- **CHOICE:**Multiple format options including textbook, eBook and eChapter rentals
- CONVENIENCE:
 Anytime, anywhere access of eBooks or eChapters via mobile devices
- SERVICE:
 Free eBook access while your text ships, and instant access to online homework products
- STUDY TOOLS:
 Study tools* for your text, plus writing, research, career and job search resources
 *availability varies



Find your course materials and start saving at:

www.cengagebrain.com

Source Code: 14M-AA0107



The Essential Theatre

ELEVENTH EDITION

The Essential Theatre

ELEVENTH EDITION

OSCAR G. BROCKETT

Late of the University of Texas at Austin

ROBERT J. BALL

University of the Incarnate Word

JOHN FLEMING

Texas State University

ANDREW CARLSON

University of Texas at Austin



Australia • Brazil • Mexico • Singapore • United Kingdom • United States





The Essential Theatre, Eleventh Edition

Oscar G. Brockett, Robert J. Ball, John Fleming, and Andrew Carlson

Product Director: Monica Eckman Product Manager: Kelli Strieby

Associate Content Developer: Rachel Smith Associate Content Developer: Rachel

Schowalter

Product Assistant: Colin Solan Marketing Manager: Sarah Seymour Senior Content Project Manager: Jill Quinn

Senior Art Director: Marissa Falco
Manufacturing Planner: Doug Bertke

IP Analyst: Ann Hoffman

Production Service: Lumina Datamatics, Inc.

Compositor: Lumina Datamatics, Inc.
Cover Designer: Roycroft Design
Cover Image: © Robbie Jack/Corbis
Entertainment/Corbis

© 2017, 2014, 2011 Cengage Learning

WCN: 02-200-203

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. No part of this work covered by the copyright herein may be reproduced, transmitted, stored, or used in any form or by any means graphic, electronic, or mechanical, including but not limited to photocopying, recording, scanning, digitizing, taping, web distribution, information networks, or information storage and retrieval systems, except as permitted under Section 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without the prior written permission of the publisher.

For product information and technology assistance, contact us at Cengage Learning Customer & Sales Support, 1-800-354-9706

For permission to use material from this text or product, submit all requests online at www.cengage.com/permissions.

Further permissions questions can be emailed to permissionrequest@cengage.com.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2015947070

Student Edition:

ISBN: 978-1-305-41107-4

Cengage Learning

20 Channel Center Street Boston, MA 02210 USA

Cengage Learning is a leading provider of customized learning solutions with employees residing in nearly 40 different countries and sales in more than 125 countries around the world. Find your local representative at www.cengage.com.

Cengage Learning products are represented in Canada by Nelson Education, Ltd.

To learn more about Cengage Learning Solutions, visit **www.cengage.com**.

Purchase any of our products at your local college store or at our preferred online store **www.cengagebrain.com**.

Printed in Canada

Print Number: 01 Print Year: 2015

b

Brief Contents

Preface		xvi
PART 1: Fou	ndations	3
Chapter 1	The Nature of Theatre	5
Chapter 2	The Audience and Criticism	25
CHAPTER 3	The Play	39
PART 2: Vari	eties of Theatrical Experience	59
Chapter 4	Festival Theatre	61
Chapter 5	Creating a Professional Theatre	103
Chapter 6	Theatre in the 1800s	139
Chapter 7	Modernism in the Twentieth Century: 1900–1960	169
Chapter 8	Decentralization and Subsidization	201
Chapter 9	Contemporary Theatre and Its Diversity	233
Chapter 10	Musical Theatre.	271
CHAPTER 11	Asian and African Theatre	303
PART 3: The	atrical Production	327
CHAPTER 12	Theatrical Space and Production Design	329
CHAPTER 13	Playwriting and Dramaturgy	345
CHAPTER 14	Directing and Producing	359
Chapter 15	Acting	385
CHAPTER 16	Scene Design.	405
Chapter 17	Costume Design and Makeup	425
CHAPTER 18	Lighting and Sound Design	445
Glossary		467
Bibliography .		477
Index		486

Contents

PART 1: Foundations	3
CHAPTER 1: The Nature of Theatre	5
The Basic Elements of Theatre	6
Theatre as a Form of Art	10
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Prior Censorship and Self-Censorship	11
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Cirque du Soleil	14
PRACTICES AND STYLES: The Factory	18
Special Qualities of Theatre	18
Art and Value	20
Multiple Intelligences Theory and the Arts	22
CHAPTER 2: The Audience and Criticism	25
Experiencing a Performance.	25
Who Is the Audience?	27
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Culturally Conditioned Audience Response	28
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Theatre for a New Audience	30
The Audience and Critical Perspective	
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Influence of Criticism	33
The Basic Problems of Criticism	34
Qualities Needed by the Critic	36
CHAPTER 3: The Play	39
On Reading a Play	39
Dramatic Action	40
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Aristotle's Poetics.	41
Methods of Organizing Dramatic Action	42
Plot	44
The Beginning	44
The Middle	46

The End	47
Character and Characterization	47
Thought	49
Sound and Spectacle	
Diction	50
Music	50
Spectacle	51
PRACTICES AND STYLES: Analyzing Plays	52
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: The Possibility of Writing Tragedy Today	53
Form in Drama	53
Tragedy	
Comedy	54
Other Forms	55
Style in Drama	55
Different Styles of Production Applied to the Same Play	56
PART 2: Varieties of Theatrical Experience	59
CHAPTER 4: Festival Theatre: Greek, Roman, and Medieval Theatre Experience	61
The Theatre of Ancient Greece	
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Performance in Ancient Egypt	
The Theatre of Dionysus	
The Performers	
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Greek Tragic Dramatists	
Oedipus Rex and Its Performance	
THEN AND NOW: Greek Tragedy and the Modern Stage.	
Greek Comedy	
The Roman Theatre Experience	
Roman Theatrical Context	
The Menaechmi THEN AND NOW: Roman Comedy and the Modern Stage	80 83
Other Roman Drama and Theatre	_
PRACTICES AND STYLES: Roman Paratheatrical Entertainments	85
The Revival of Drama in the Medieval Period	85
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: The First Female Dramatist.	87
0001D11,1111,1111D 00D1 01D. 1111 1 1111 DIUITUU DIUITUUS	
Trade Guilds and the Corpus Christi Festival	
Trade Guilds and the Corpus Christi Festival	87
Trade Guilds and the Corpus Christi Festival	87

The Wakefield Cycle	92
Noah and His Sons	94
THEN AND NOW: Medieval Theatre and the Modern Stage	96
Other Medieval Theatre and Drama	97
Comparing Greek, Roman, and Medieval Theatre	99
Theatre in a Broad Context	101
CHARTER E Creating a Professional Theatre Flinchather Fueland Italian	
CHAPTER 5: Creating a Professional Theatre: Elizabethan England, <i>Italian</i> Commedia dell'Arte, and Seventeenth-Century France	103
Creating a Professional Theatre	
Shakespeare and the Globe Theatre	
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: The New Globe Theatre	
Hamlet	
THEN AND NOW: Shakespeare and the Modern Stage	
The Theatre Experience in Renaissance Italy	116
PRACTICES AND STYLES: Italian Intermezzi and English Masques	119
Commedia dell'Arte	120
The Servant of Two Masters	124
THEN AND NOW: Commedia and Modern Improvised Comedy	126
The French Background	127
PRACTICES AND STYLES: Professional Theatre in Spain	128
Molière and Seventeenth-Century French Theatre Practice	129
Tartuffe	
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Molière	135
The Elizabethan, Italian, and French Traditions	136
Theatre in a Broad Context	137
CHAPTER 6: Theatre in the 1800s	139
The Emergence of Romanticism	140
Melodrama	142
Monte Cristo	144
PRACTICES AND STYLES: Scenes of Suspense and Spectacle in Melodrama	149
THEN AND NOW: Melodrama and Film	150
The Advent of Realism	150
Realism and Naturalism	152
A Doll's House	153
THEN AND NOW: Henrik Ibsen: from Controversial to Mainstream	155
Zola and Naturalism	156
The Emergence of the Director	156

The Independent Theatre Movement	
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Censoring Shaw	
Early Reactions to Realism	
•	
Symbolism	
"Art for Art's Sake"	
The Importance of Being Earnest	
Summary	
Theatre in a Broad Context	. 16/
CHAPTER 7: Modernism in the Twentieth Century: 1900–1960	169
The Modernist Influence on Theatrical Visionaries	. 169
Futurism, Dada, and Expressionism	. 173
THEN AND NOW: Chicago's Neo-Futurists	174
PRACTICES AND STYLES: Modernist Movements	176
The Hairy Ape	. 178
American Theatre and Drama between the Wars (1917–1940)	. 180
PRACTICES AND STYLES: "Little Theatres" and the New Stagecraft	
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: American Female Playwrights between the Wars	
Epic Theatre	
The Good Person of Setzuan	
Artaud and the Theatre of Cruelty	
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Peter Brook and the Theatre of Cruelty	
Post–World War II European Drama and Theatre	
Absurdist Drama	
Waiting for Godot	. 192
Post–World War II American Drama and Theatre	
Cat on a Hot Tin Roof	
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: The Actors Studio	195
Summary	. 198
Theatre in a Broad Context	. 199
CHAPTER 8: Decentralization and Subsidization: New Directions	201
Postwar British Theatre	
American Regional Theatres	
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Subsidization and the NEA.	
Off-Broadway and Off-Off-Broadway	
Alternative Theatre Groups	
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre across America	

Poor and Environmental Theatres	
Multimedia, Happenings, and Performance Art	
THEN AND NOW: "Happenings" in the Modern World	
A New Generation of American Playwrights	
True West	
Summary	230
Theatre in a Broad Context	
CHAPTER 9: Contemporary Theatre and Its Diversity	233
Cultural Diversity	233
African American Theatre	234
Fences	236
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: August Wilson's Century Cycle	238
Latino Theatre	239
Lydia	241
Asian American Theatre.	244
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Should We Write Only about Our Own Culture?	245
Native American Theatre	247
Theatre by and for Women	
How I Learned to Drive.	
Gay and Lesbian Theatre	
Angels in America, Part I: Millennium Approaches	
Performance Art Since 1990	
Postmodernism	
Postmodern Influences on Interpretation and Design	
Contemporary British Drama	
The Next Wave of Contemporary American Playwrights	
Summary	
Theatre in a Broad Context	
CHAPTER 10: Musical Theatre	271
Origins of Musical Theatre	
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Black Musicals	
The Birth of the Modern Musical	
PRACTICES AND STYLES: Musicals and Hollywood	
Golden Age Musicals	

CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage. 331 The Thrust Stage. 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	Alternatives to the Book Musical	
Other Concept Musicals 287 Andrew Lloyd Webber and the Megamusical 290 The 1990s: Revitalizing the American Musical 293 The 2000s: Movies, Jukeboxes, and Other Possibilities 296 Summary. 300 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 301 CHAPTER 11: Asian and African Theatre 303 Theatre in Japan 303 Noh Theatre 304 The Sbrine in the Fields (Nonomiya). 307 Other Traditional Japanese Theatre Forms 308 Modern Japanese Theatre 311 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Butoh. 312 Theatre in China 313 Other Asian Countries. 315 Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 South Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 Theatre In a Broad Context 325	Rock Musicals.	285
Andrew Lloyd Webber and the Megamusical		
The 1990s: Revitalizing the American Musical 293 The 2000s: Movies, Jukeboxes, and Other Possibilities 296 Summary. 300 Theatre In A Broad Context 301 CHAPTER 11: Asian and African Theatre 303 Theatre in Japan 303 Noh Theatre 304 The Shrine in the Fields (Nonomiya) 307 Other Traditional Japanese Theatre Forms 308 Modern Japanese Theatre 507 Modern Japanese Theatre 507 Society, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Butoh 311 Society, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Butoh 312 Theatre in China 313 Other Asian Countries 315 Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 South Africa 322 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 Theatre in A Broad Context 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	Other Concept Musicals	287
The 2000s: Movies, Jukeboxes, and Other Possibilities 296 Summary. 300 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 301 CHAPTER 11: Asian and African Theatre 303 Theatre in Japan 303 Noh Theatre 304 The Shrine in the Fields (Nonomiya) 307 Other Traditional Japanese Theatre Forms 308 Modern Japanese Theatre 311 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Butoh. 312 Theatre in China. 313 Other Asian Countries. 315 Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa. 317 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatr	Andrew Lloyd Webber and the Megamusical	290
Summary. 300 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 301 CHAPTER 11: Asian and African Theatre 303 Theatre in Japan 303 Noh Theatre 304 The Shrine in the Fields (Nonomiya) 307 Other Traditional Japanese Theatre Forms 308 Modern Japanese Theatre 311 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Butoh. 312 Theatre in China. 313 Other Asian Countries. 315 Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331	The 1990s: Revitalizing the American Musical	
THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 301 CHAPTER 11: Asian and African Theatre 303 Theatre in Japan 303 Noh Theatre 304 The Shrine in the Fields (Nonomiya) 307 Other Traditional Japanese Theatre Forms 308 Modern Japanese Theatre 311 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Busoh 312 Theatre in China 313 Other Asian Countries 315 Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334	The 2000s: Movies, Jukeboxes, and Other Possibilities	
CHAPTER 11: Asian and African Theatre 303 Theatre in Japan 303 Noh Theatre 304 The Shrine in the Fields (Nonomiya) 307 Other Traditional Japanese Theatre Forms 308 Modern Japanese Theatre 311 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Butoh. 312 Theatre in China. 313 Other Asian Countries. 315 Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North African Countries 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Space and Production Design 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture <	Summary	300
Theatre in Japan 303 Noh Theatre 304 The Shrine in the Fields (Nonomiya) 307 Other Traditional Japanese Theatre Forms 308 Modern Japanese Theatre 311 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Butoh 312 Theatre in China 313 Other Asian Countries 315 Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	Theatre in a Broad Context	301
Noh Theatre 304 The Shrine in the Fields (Nonomiya) 307 Other Traditional Japanese Theatre Forms 308 Modern Japanese Theatre 311 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Butoh 312 Theatre in China 313 Other Asian Countries 315 Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	CHAPTER 11: Asian and African Theatre	303
The Sbrine in the Fields (Nonomiya). 307 Other Traditional Japanese Theatre Forms. 308 Modern Japanese Theatre 311 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Butoh. 312 Theatre in China. 313 Other Asian Countries. 315 Wayang Kulit. 316 Theatre in Africa. 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	Theatre in Japan	303
Other Traditional Japanese Theatre 308 Modern Japanese Theatre 311 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Butoh 312 Theatre in China 313 Other Asian Countries 315 Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 331 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	Noh Theatre	304
Modern Japanese Theatre 311 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Butoh. 312 Theatre in China. 313 Other Asian Countries. 315 Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage. 331 The Thrust Stage. 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	The Shrine in the Fields (Nonomiya)	307
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Butoh. 312 Theatre in China. 313 Other Asian Countries. 315 Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage. 331 The Thrust Stage. 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	Other Traditional Japanese Theatre Forms	308
Theatre in China. 313 Other Asian Countries. 315 Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa. 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 331 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	Modern Japanese Theatre	311
Other Asian Countries. 315 Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Sankai Juku and Butoh	312
Wayang Kulit 316 Theatre in Africa 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	Theatre in China	313
Theatre in Africa 317 Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	Other Asian Countries	315
Performance in Nigeria 319 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	Wayang Kulit	316
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write? 320 The Strong Breed 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	Theatre in Africa	317
The Strong Breed 321 South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	Performance in Nigeria	319
South Africa 321 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: In What Language Should We Write?	320
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle 323 North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	The Strong Breed	321
North Africa 324 Other African Countries 324 THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	South Africa	321
Other African Countries324THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT325PART 3: Theatrical Production327CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design329The Influence of Theatrical Space329The Proscenium-Arch Stage331The Thrust Stage332The Arena Stage333SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture334Flexible Space334	SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre of the Struggle	323
THEATRE IN A BROAD CONTEXT 325 PART 3: Theatrical Production 327 CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage 331 The Thrust Stage 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	North Africa	324
PART 3: Theatrical ProductionCHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design329The Influence of Theatrical Space329The Proscenium-Arch Stage331The Thrust Stage332The Arena Stage333SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture334Flexible Space334	Other African Countries	324
CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design 329 The Influence of Theatrical Space 329 The Proscenium-Arch Stage. 331 The Thrust Stage. 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334	Theatre in a Broad Context	325
The Influence of Theatrical Space329The Proscenium-Arch Stage.331The Thrust Stage.332The Arena Stage333SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture334Flexible Space334	PART 3: Theatrical Production	327
The Influence of Theatrical Space329The Proscenium-Arch Stage.331The Thrust Stage.332The Arena Stage333SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture334Flexible Space334	CHAPTER 12: Theatrical Space and Production Design	329
The Proscenium-Arch Stage. 331 The Thrust Stage. 332 The Arena Stage 333 SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture 334 Flexible Space 334		
The Thrust Stage		
The Arena Stage	<u>c</u>	
SOCIETY, ART, AND CULTURE: Theatre Architecture		
Flexible Space		
	PRACTICES AND STYLES: Theatre Facilities and Auxiliary Spaces	

Auxiliary Spaces	336
Using the Theatrical Space	337
Production Design	
Elements and Principles.	339
Collaboration and the Designers' Process	340
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Julie Taymor and Coordinated Production Design	
CHAPTER 13: Playwriting and Dramaturgy	345
The Playwright	345
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Yasmina Reza	
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Playwrights on Playwriting	351
The Dramaturg	352
Literary Management	353
PRACTICES AND STYLES: Playwriting as Collaborative Process	355
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Dramaturgs on Dramaturgy	
Production Dramaturgy	356
CHAPTER 14: Directing and Producing	359
The Producer.	
PRACTICES AND STYLES: Producing New Hair	
The Director	
Analyzing and Studying the Play	
Approaches to Directing	
PRACTICES AND STYLES: Directors on Directing	
The Director and the Designers	
Auditions and Casting	369
PRACTICES AND STYLES: Nontraditional Casting	371
Working with the Actors	372
The Director's Tools	373
Stage Images	373
Movement, Gesture, and Business	375
Voice and Speech	377
Rehearsing the Play	377
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Anne Bogart	378
The Assistant Director and the Stage Manager	382
Thinking about the Director's Work	383
CHAPTER 15: Acting	385
Approaches to the Art of Acting	386
	387
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Actors' Thoughts About Acting	388

	Alternative Approaches to Acting	388
	PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: The Rude Mechs' Method Gun	390
	The Actor's Training	. 391
	Vocal Training	391
	Movement Training	391
	Training the Mind	393
	Rehearsing and Performing	. 394
	Basic Stage Vocabulary and Conventions	394
	Creating a Role	
	Developing Movement in Rehearsal	
	Vocal Characterization	
	Memorization	
	Refining the Rule	
	Dress Rehearsals and Performance	
	The Profession	
	The Tools of the Trade	
	The Audition	
	The Actor's Life	
	Thinking about the Actor's Work	. 403
СН	APTER 16: Scene Design	. 405
	The Functions of Scene Design	. 405
	The Scene Designer's Skills	. 407
	Working Plans and Procedures	. 408
	PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: The Art of Scene Design	409
	PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Ming Cho Lee	411
	Basic Scenic Elements	. 412
	Soft-Scenery Units	. 412
	Framed Units	413
	Three-Dimensional Units	. 414
	Materials and Methods	415
	Assembling and Painting Scenery	. 415
	PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Michael Yeargan	416
	Shifting Scenery Onstage.	. 417
	Set Decoration and Properties	. 420
	PRACTICES AND STYLES: Action and Spectacle	421
	Technical Rehearsals, Dress Rehearsals, and Performances	. 421
	The Scene Designer's Assistants and Collaborators	. 422
	Thinking about the Scene Designer's Work	
	imming about the occine benginers work	

CHAPTER 17: Costume Design and Makeup	425
The Functions of Costume Design	425
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: The Art of Costume Design	427
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Catherine Zuber	429
The Costume Designer's Skills.	430
Working Plans and Procedures	431
Realizing the Designs	433
The Costume Designer and the Actor	435
Makeup	436
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: William Ivey Long	437
Types of Makeup	438
The Costume Parade, Dress Rehearsals, and Performances	
The Costume Designer's Assistants	441
Thinking about Costume and Makeup	441
CHAPTER 18: Lighting and Sound Design	445
The Controllable Qualities of Light.	445
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Female Pioneers in Stage Lighting	448
The Functions of Lighting Design.	
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: The Art of Light Design	
The Lighting Designer's Skills	
PRACTITIONERS AND THEORISTS: Jennifer Tipton	
The Lighting Designer's Working Procedures	
Organizing the Distribution of Light.	
Setting the Lights, Rehearsals, and Performances	
The Lighting Designer's Assistants4	
The Increasing Role of Sound Design	459
The Functions of Sound Design	459
The Sound Designer's Working Methods and Resources	461
Mixed-Media Productions	462
Thinking about Stage Lighting and Sound	463
Afterword	465
Glossary	467
Bibliography	477
Index	48 4

Preface

Behind this edition lies more than fifty years of publication. Although *The Essential Theatre* was first published in 1976, it began as an abridged version of another book, *The Theatre: An Introduction*, which first appeared in 1964. *The Essential Theatre* has since taken on an identity of its own and is now in its Eleventh Edition.

As in its earlier versions, this edition is divided into three parts. Part 1 addresses basic issues and features related to the nature of theatre, to the role of audiences, to the varied criteria for judging theatrical performances, and to dramatic structure and style. Part 2 looks at various theatrical experiences from theatre's past and present. These experiences suggest that, as a vital form of creative expression, theatre changes to reflect the dynamics of the cultures within which it exists. Part 3 provides an overview of theatre production today: the principles, practices, and procedures used in the creation of theatre.

The Essential Theatre is intended primarily to serve two kinds of courses: an introductory course in which an overview provides a foundation for those intending to major in theatre (future theatre-makers), and a theatre appreciation course in which an overview provides insights and understanding for audience members (future theatregoers). Although these two courses may address the same topics, they usually do so with somewhat different emphases. Because instructors often use the material in ways suited to their individual needs, we have sought to provide a logically organized, comprehensive overview of the theatre. But instructors need not follow the sequence we have chosen nor use all of the material in the book. Some instructors may wish

to use only some of the chapters in Part 2, for instance, while others may wish to assign Part 3 prior to or concurrently with Part 2. Regardless, our aim is to provide helpful discussions of topics pertinent to introductory and theatre appreciation courses rather than to prescribe how the courses should be organized.

This Eleventh Edition continues to feature the "Theatre in a Broad Context" timelines; these help students situate theatrical events and developments within a larger historical context (see the final pages of Chapters 4 through 11). Chapters 14 through 18 include a series of questions to help students attending performances more fully consider and analyze the work of different theatre artists (directors, actors, and designers). Finally, an extensive bibliography is appended to the book as a guide to additional sources about the topics discussed in each chapter.

We have assumed that many of those who use this book will both read plays and attend theatrical performances. Ideally, students should be able to read a play and then see a performance of that play. This is often not possible, but reading plays and seeing performances illustrate the difference between text on the printed page and its production on stage—the difference between drama and theatre. Because students typically will not have read a wide variety of plays, fourteen examples cited in The Essential Theatre, Eleventh Edition, are also included in a companion anthology titled Plays for the Theatre, Eleventh Edition, originally edited by Oscar G. Brockett and Robert J. Ball and published by Cengage Learning. These plays

serve as foundations for discussions of various types of theatrical experience. The anthology includes three new plays. Plays retained from the previous edition include Sophocles's *Oedipus the King*, the anonymously composed *Noah and His Sons*, the Noh drama *The Shrine in the Fields*, William Shakespeare's *Hamlet*, Molière's *Tartuffe*, Henrik Ibsen's *A Doll's House*, Oscar Wilde's *The Importance of Being Earnest*, Tennessee Williams's *Cat on a Hot Tin Roof*, Wole Soyinka's *The Strong Breed*, Paula Vogel's *How I Learned to Drive*, and Octavio Solis's *Lydia*. The three new plays are Sam Shepard's *True West*, August Wilson's *Fences*, and Tony Kushner's *Angels in America*.

New to This Edition

As we have moved from "contributors" to an enhanced edition to official authors of a new edition, our goal has been to build upon a successful framework while enhancing the features we have found to be most instructive in our own teaching. Likewise, we have listened to users of this book in attempt to increase the clarity, content, and organization to fit the needs of different instructors.

We have refined the expanded "Theatre in a Broad Context" timelines that were used in the Enhanced Tenth Edition and have added one for the new Chapter 10 coverage of Musical Theatre. In addition, we have further reorganized the material in Part 2 to make the historical overview of theatre's many expressions more clear. Chapter 6 is now "Theatre in the 1800s" and includes Symbolism and "Art-for-Art's Sake" as early reactions to realism. This has transformed Chapter 7 into "Modernism in the 20th Century: 1900–1960." An examination of the differences between the early modernist movements of realism, symbolism, expressionism, surrealism, futurism, and dada is featured in a text box that contrasts

the distinctive features of each movement. There is also a new text box on American female playwrights of the interwar years. In the second half of the chapter, the trends in post-World War II European theatre are treated together, followed by the trends in American theatre. Chapter 8 now begins with a more in-depth treatment of post-World War II British theatre, including consideration of three major theatres (National Theatre, Royal Shakespeare Company, Royal Court Theatre) and three major playwrights (Harold Pinter, Peter Shaffer, and Tom Stoppard). The chapter's coverage of decentralization and subsidization includes a consideration of Sam Shepard's play *True West* as it illustrates the backand-forth movement between regional theatres and the different tiers of theatre production found in New York. Chapter 9's treatment of diversity includes a more in-depth treatment of African American theatre as well as discussion of August Wilson's Fences and Tony Kushner's Angels in America; its treatment of contemporary theatre retains Octavio Solis's controversial play Lydia and is updated in its discussions of contemporary plays. Throughout all the chapters, there is increased attention to the major playwrights of the respective eras. In addition, all plays mentioned in the text include a date of first production and all major figures include their birth and death dates; the more rigorous inclusion of dates is not for memorization, but rather to offer a clearer sense of context, of where a particular work falls within the artist's lifetime or where it fits in the sociological context suggested by the topics covered in the "Theatre in a Broad Context" timelines.

Part 2 also features a new chapter, one devoted entirely to Musical Theatre. It covers musical theatre's development, major figures, major works, and various incarnations that comprise the most popular genre of theatre. In addition, spread throughout the chapters of Part 2, there are ten new "Then & Now" text boxes that link select topics in theatre history to the present day; these text boxes (and accompanying photos) highlight

the way that the past continues to influence the present, not only in theatre but also in popular culture, including films, contemporary comedy, and even flash mobs.

In Part 3, updates have been made so that the discussions of theatre production reflect standard practices and terminology. There is increased attention to the designer as artist and interpreter; Chapters 16, 17, and 18 include text boxes where designers discuss the artistry of their design process. In Chapter 18, the expanded treatment of sound design has been retained. In addition, the chapter on Acting (now Chapter 15) has been completely revised, offering a clearer, more focused, up-to-date presentation of the diversity of contemporary approaches to acting.

Throughout the text, the text boxes, play summaries, and historical content have been subtly edited to sharpen the clarity or significance of the topic being discussed. This Eleventh Edition also has over eighty new photos and illustrations; the additions typically feature contemporary productions as well as actors and actresses that students will recognize from film and television.

Overall, the new features to this edition help underline the idea that theatre does not exist in isolation but rather is an art form that is a vibrant part of the cultural makeup of the entertainment industry, both in the past and in the present.

Teaching Resources

• Instructor's Resource Manual. Save time, streamline your course preparation, and get the most from the text. This indispensable manual offers teaching suggestions, assignment ideas, and a sample course syllabus. It also provides sample quiz and essay questions, video and web resources, and suggested classroom activities.

- Instructor Companion Website. This
 protected companion website provides
 exclusive instructor materials, including
 PowerPoint® presentations for the entire
 text, as well as a downloadable version of
 the Instructor's Resource Manual.
- Cengage Learning Testing Powered by Cognero. This flexible, online system allows you to author, edit, and manage test bank content from multiple Cengage Learning solutions. You can create multiple test versions in an instant and deliver tests from your LMS, your classroom, or wherever you want.

All of these resources are available with an instructor account at **login.cengage.com**.

Acknowledgments

It is impossible to list all the people to whom we are indebted. The bibliography indicates most of the sources we have used, and the captions indicate the people and organizations who have permitted us to include their illustrations. In addition to these, we wish to thank the following colleagues for their insightful and useful comments:

Kristopher LaMorte, *Delgado Community College*

Kevin Brown, *University of Missouri* Jeremy Fiebig, *Fayetteville State University* Jeremy Cox, *University of Tennessee at Chattanooga*

Michelle Lippens, *Erie Community College – North Campus*

Caroline Mercier, California State University, Stanislaus

Emily Becher, *James Madison University* Sarah Maines, *Texas State University* Michelle Ney, Texas State University
Debbie Alley, Texas State University
Rich Rand, Purdue University
Russell Dembin, University of Texas-Austin (Graduate Assistant)

Finally, we thank the staff at Cengage Learning, including Rachel Smith, Associate Content

Developer; Kelli Strieby, Product Manager; Rachel Schowalter, Associate Content Developer; Jill Quinn, Senior Content Project Manager; Ann Hoffman, IP Analyst; and the staff at Lumina Datamatics, including Venkat Narayanan, Dharanivel Baskar, and Sumathi Kumaran.

John Fleming Andrew Carlson

The Essential Theatre

ELEVENTH EDITION

PART

War Horse, based on the novel by Michael Morpurgo, adapted by Nick Stafford, premiered at London's National Theatre in 2007. Directed by Marianne Elliott and Tom Morris, the production featured life-sized puppets created by Handspring Puppet Company. In New York, War Horse won five Tony Awards, plus a special Tony Award for Handspring Puppet Company.

Geraint Lewis/Alamy

Foundations

heatre is a complex art at least 2,500 years old. Over the centuries and across cultures, it has undergone many changes and followed diverse paths. When one attends theatre today, a few hundred people come together, usually in the evening, to see a performance that will last approximately two hours on an indoor stage illuminated by artificial light. But theatregoing has not always been this way. For example, the modern experience of theatregoing would have seemed strange to Greeks living in the fifth century B.C. as they assembled at dawn in an outdoor theatre seating some 17,000 people to watch a series of plays that lasted half the day under the bright sunlight. The modern experience would have seemed equally strange to a fifteenth-century A.D. English audience that gathered at various places along a route to watch a series of short biblical plays performed on wagons that moved from one performance site to the next. These examples by no means exhaust the possibilities because theatrical experience has been as varied as the cultures in which it has appeared. The practices audiences are familiar with today encompass only a limited range of the theatre's immense possibilities.

Such variety invites questions about the continuing appeal of theatre: Why do people create theatre? What attracts audiences to it? What makes one production of a play seem better to us than another?

It is useful to begin looking at theatre by examining some basic issues: the nature and function of theatre; the relationship of theatre to other forms of art; criteria for judging theatrical performances; the structure of the dramatic text; and other related topics. These initial explorations will help build the foundation for a fuller understanding and appreciation of theatre and the processes of theatrical production.



Shakespeare's Globe, a re-creation of the sixteenth-century playhouse in London, strives to faithfully reproduce the original English renaissance stagings of Shakespeare's plays. The company's 2012 presentation of *Twelfth Night* followed the Renaissance practice of having an all-male cast. The production, directed by Tim Carroll and featuring Mark Rylance as Olivia, transferred to the West End (London's commercial theatre district) and then Broadway (2013–2014).

SARA KRULWICH/The New York Times/Redux

I regard the theatre as the greatest of all art forms, the most immediate way in which a human being can share with another the sense of what it is to be a human being.

-Oscar Wilde

The Nature of Theatre

t is uncertain just how and when theatre originated. As far back as one can trace human history, various kinds of rituals considered vital to the well-being of the community used the elements needed for theatre: a performance space, performers, masks or makeup, costumes, music, dance, and an audience. The function of these early rites was only incidentally theatrical; they were addressed to supernatural forces thought to control the return of spring, success in hunting and war, the fertility of human beings and the land, and the place of humans in the cosmic scheme. Other activities that contributed to theatre, such as storytelling and mimicry, also were already evident.

Although exactly how it emerged from these beginnings is unclear, theatre achieved its own distinct identity at least 2,500 years ago. During its existence, its relative status has varied considerably. In ancient Greece, theatre was valued highly as it was performed for the entire community at religious festivals financed by the state and wealthy citizens. At other times, theatre has existed on the fringes of respectability, as it did from the fifth to the tenth century A.D., when small bands of itinerant performers traveled around playing wherever they could, for whatever they could collect from those who

came to watch. In other times, theatre has been forbidden, as it was in England between 1642 and 1660 when the Puritans, then in power, considered it not only morally unacceptable but also an activity that tempted people away from more honest work. During its long life, theatre has been both denounced and praised, and its value—even its right to exist—has sometimes been questioned.

Such divergent responses have been encouraged in part by theatrical terminology (play, show, acting) that suggests that theatre lacks pragmatic value and is the product of grown-ups who have prolonged their childhood by dressing up and playing games to divert themselves and others. Furthermore, because dramas are fictional, they have at times been denounced as a form of lying, as they were in colonial New England. Because plays tend to emphasize human crises (often involving deception, violence, and socially reprehensible behavior), they have been accused of exerting dangerous influence on the young (a claim sometimes made against various forms of media today). Nevertheless, in almost all periods at least some people have considered theatre not only an acceptable form of entertainment but also a truthful reflection of human behavior.

Theatre, then, has had its detractors and its advocates. Even so, those who value it often find themselves on the defensive with those who question whether it has a valid place in a college curriculum or whether a world dominated by film, television, and the Internet would miss theatre if it disappeared altogether.

The Basic Elements of Theatre

ne reason for the varying responses can be found in theatre's range and diversity, both of which are evident in its three basic elements:

- What is performed (a play, scenario, or plan)
- The performance (including all of the processes involved in the creation and presentation of a production)
- The audience (the perceivers)

Each of these elements is essential and they affect not only each other but also the totality of what is expressed and how it may be perceived.

What is performed can be extremely varied—from a comic routine performed by a single entertainer to a Shakespearean tragedy performed by a large company of actors. Likewise, some people consider events such as street carnivals and parades as types of theatre. Because of this great range, theatre is not easy to define. The critic Eric Bentley (1916–) has argued that all of the many definitions of *theatre* can be reduced to: *A* performs *B* for *C*. That is, the most basic definition of *theatre* is someone performing something for someone else.

Though theatre is varied, typically it is thought of as the staged performance of a written text. But it is important to remember that theatre does not require a written text, dialogue, or conflict. Juggling and acrobatics, for example, have often been presented as theatrical entertainments.

But even if one restricts the definition of *theatre* to performances that involve some degree of storytelling, one is still faced with great diversity because improvised scenes, pantomimes, vaudeville sketches, musical plays, and spoken dramas are all theatrical entertainments. Furthermore, they may be brief or lengthy; they may deal with the everyday or the unusual, the comic or the serious.

There are also diverse opinions about theatre's role in society. Some people think of theatre primarily as entertainment, whereas others find the essence of theatre to be its capacity to provoke thought or action about significant issues. John Millington Synge (1871–1909), one of the leading Irish dramatists of the twentieth century, argued that drama is at its best, not when it is dealing with social problems that will soon be forgotten, but rather when it feeds the imagination. Synge stated: "We should not go to the theatre as we go to a [pharmacy] ..., but as we go to dinner, where the food we need is taken with pleasure and excitement" Conversely, Peter Brook (1925–), one of the world's great directors, sees theatre as serving an important social and political role. According to Brook, "the basic function of theatre is to be anti-government, anti-establishment and anti-social. What we all recognize as feeble theatre is the theatre that enters into the public lie of pretending that everything's okay." Overall, if one is to understand theatre, one must acknowledge its great range and recognize that its potential (like that of most human creations) can be developed in many ways, some of which one may like and some of which one may even consider dangerous.

Theatre's second ingredient, the performance, is equally complex. It translates the potential of a play, scenario, or plan into actuality. What the audience usually sees when it goes to the theatre is the fleshing out of a written text or plan through the application of theatrical processes. The performance takes place in a space that can vary from a building intended specifically for theatrical performances to a street, park, or nightclub. Spaces may vary from those that seat fewer than a hundred people to those (as in



The plays of Martin McDonagh are known for their violent characters and intense conflict. Pictured here is a scene from McDonagh's 1999 Broadway production of The Lonesome West. The production starred Dawn Bradfield, David Ganly, Brían F. O'Byrne, and Maeliosa. Stafford, the same actors who created the roles in the first production in 1997 at the Druid Theatre Company in Galway. The Broadway production was directed by Garry Hynes and featured scenic and costume design by Francis O'Connor.

ancient Greece) that seat 15,000 to 20,000. The arrangement of this space may also vary; it may permit the audience to surround the performers, require the audience to sit in rows facing a platform on which the performance occurs, or use other audience—performer configurations, each of which alters the total theatrical experience. (This subject is explored more fully in Chapter 12.)

Most performances require the creative efforts and cooperation of many people: playwright, director, actors, designers, stage manager, and technicians. A musical involves even more people: composer, instrumentalists, singers, choreographer, and dancers. Any component of production (the script, acting, scenery, costumes, lighting, music, dance) can be manipulated to create varied effects. All of the components may be so skillfully integrated that the spectator is aware only of a single unified impression; or one or more of the components, such as acting or spectacle, may completely overshadow the others. Today, for example, some people argue that spectacular effects overwhelm the other elements in such popular musicals as The Lion King, Miss Saigon, and The Phantom of the Opera.

The components may be handled in a way easily understood by almost everyone or in ways so strange that all but a few are puzzled. A performance may seem to one part of the audience original and entertaining and to another obvious and boring; conversely, what to one group may seem strange and incomprehensible may be judged insightful and brilliant by another. Although the possibilities and results of performance may be multitudinous, the beginning point of the theatrical experience has been reduced to its essentials by Peter Brook in his book The Empty Space (1968), where he says, "I can take any empty space and call it a bare stage. A man walks across this empty space whilst someone else is watching him, and this is all that is needed for an act of theatre to be engaged."

The third basic ingredient of theatre is the audience. A theatre performance is a communicative expression that is incomplete until an audience receives or experiences it. For all the arts, a public is imperative, but for some this public may be thought of as individuals—the reader of a novel or poem, the viewer of a painting or a piece of sculpture—each of whom may experience the work in isolation. But a theatre



The Lion King, adapted for the stage from Disney's animated feature film (music and lyrics by Elton John and Tim Rice). Direction and design of costumes, masks, and puppets by Julie Taymor (aided by a number of others).

audience (as well as the audience for music and dance) assembles as a group at a given time and place to experience a performance. This group takes in a performance as a temporary community.

The audience affects theatre in many ways, perhaps most clearly through the immediate feedback it provides the performers. Continuous interaction occurs not only between stage and auditorium, but also among spectators involved in a communal experience. For example, if one segment of the audience begins to laugh at what the director intended to be serious, the rest of the audience may come to respond in the same way; in turn, such unexpected response may disrupt the actors' concentration and alter their performance. Conversely, the shared enthusiastic laughter of an audience during scenes intended to be comic may lift the actors

to greater effectiveness. This live interaction is a distinctive characteristic of theatre and a major cause of variations in performances from night to night.

Audiences also affect theatre through their expectations and motives for attending. Some members of the audience come to the theatre wanting only to be entertained, to be diverted from personal cares and the problems of their world. This group is likely to consider it the job of the playwright and director to make everything clear; it may see no need to make an effort to understand unfamiliar ideas or conventions. Such spectators may resent or avoid any production that questions conventional moral, political, or cultural values. Other members of the audience may prefer productions that challenge accepted values, raise provocative issues, advocate action about political or social issues, or use

innovative theatrical means. Ultimately, various segments of the public make their preferences felt through attendance or nonattendance. They support what appeals to them and fail to support what they do not like or do not understand. Now that the cost of tickets to most Broadway productions averages more than \$100, audiences understandably hesitate to attend theatre unless they feel confident that a performance will suit their tastes. In turn, Broadway producers, who need to recover the large sums required to mount a show on Broadway, often avoid controversial subject matter or unfamiliar staging conventions that might reduce attendance. Off-Broadway and regional theatres, with lower costs and ticket prices, can afford to take greater chances and may seek a more restricted audience than that sought by Broadway. Overall, audience taste significantly influences what is

performed, how it is performed, and where it is performed.

These three elements—play, performance, and audience—although they may be treated separately in discussion—interact and modify each other in practice. Playwrights may have specific intentions when they write, but they can seldom control how directors and others involved in production will interpret their plays. Therefore, different productions of the same play can vary drastically. Nor can directors dictate what audiences will get from their productions, and individual members of a single audience may have widely different reactions to the same performance. Because what is performed, how it is performed, and audience taste and perception are so diverse, not all theatre will appeal to all segments of the public. Responses to theatre are inescapably varied.



Whether the social context for a performance is formal or casual may affect how the audience as a group responds to the event. Here, the Royal Winnipeq Ballet performs at *Ballet in the Park*.

Copyright 2017 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s). Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.